RR-75-34

TRANSPORTATION, AUTOMATION AND THE

١.

QUALITY OF URBAN LIVING

Horst Strobel

October 1975

Research Reports are publications reporting on the work of the author. Any views or conclusions are those of the author, and do not necessarily reflect those of IIASA.

Contents

.

| Pa | σe | |
|----|----|--|
| τa | 90 | |

| 1. | Motivation | 1 |
|----|--|----|
| 2. | Concepts for the Reduction of Urban Traffic | 4 |
| | Problems | |
| | 2.1 The Problems | 4 |
| | 2.2 The Concepts | 7 |
| | 2.2.1 Control of Demand | 8 |
| | 2.2.2 Control of Supply | 12 |
| | 2.3 Towards Computerized Traffic Control | 13 |
| 3. | Computer Control of Urban Street and Freeway | 14 |
| | Traffic | |
| | 3.1 Freeway and Road Traffic Control | 14 |
| | 3.1.1 Optimal Guidance of Vehicular Traffic | 15 |
| | Streams | |
| | 3.1.2 Freeway Traffic Flow Control | 18 |
| | 3.1.3 Merging Control | 22 |
| | 3.1.4 Optimal Control of the Movement of | 22 |
| | Individual Vehicles | |
| | 3.2 Traffic Control in Urban Street Networks | 24 |
| | 3.2.1 Optimal Guidance of the Main Traffic | 24 |
| | Streams Through an Urban Street Network | |
| | 3.2.2 Coordination of Traffic Lights | 26 |
| | 3.3 Integrated Urban Automobile Traffic Control | 30 |
| | Systems | |
| 4. | Automation and Computer Control in Public Trans- | 34 |
| | portation Systems | |
| | 4.1 Urban Railway Systems Control | 34 |
| | 4.2 Bus and Tram Traffic Monitoring and Control | 36 |

| 5. | New Modes of Urban Transportation | 37 |
|----|--|----|
| | 5.1 Operational Innovations: DIAL-A-RIDE | 37 |
| | 5.2 Total-Systems Innovations: Automated | 39 |
| | Demand-Responsive Urban Transportation | |
| | 5.2.1 Automated Demand-Responsive Guideway | 40 |
| | Systems | |
| | 5.2.2 The Dual-Mode Concept | 49 |
| 6. | Conclusion | 49 |
| 7. | References | 51 |
| | Appendix A | 63 |

Transportation, Automation and the Quality of Urban Living

Horst Strobel

1. Motivation

In the past, new technologies such as the wheel, the sail, the steam engine, the electric motor, the internal combustion engine, the jet engine and others (cf. Figure 1) have created breakthroughs to entirely new modes of transportation, resulting in well-known changes in the structure of cities and the quality of urban living. Where formerly cities grew up along waterways, railroads and streetcar lines, they now grow up along highways or around airports [3].

It seems reasonable to ask whether the fundamental new technology of our age -- modern automation and computer technology -- could contribute to a new breakthrough in urban transportation (cf. Figure 1).

This question is the subject of the present paper. Special attention is paid to the new possibilities provided by quite recently developed LSI (large scale integrated) electronic systems for control, computation and communication, especially by so-called mini-computers and microprocessors. These are characterized by high computation speed and capacity, small dimensions, great reliability, the capability of being operated in a rough environment, and low and ever decreasing costs (cf. [10, 13, 41] and Figure 1).

There obviously exists a strong motivation to consider carefully all possibilities for fundamental changes in the present urban transportation systems, since increasing misuse of a special transportation technology, that of automobiles and highway systems, has already caused tremendous difficulties in several countries [2, 5, 8, 11, 15,



FIG. 1: New technologies that have or probably will create breakthroughs to new modes of transportation resulting in essential changes in urban structure and the quality of urban living (cf. [3]).

- 2 -

ł

17, 18, 20, 29, 46, 113] and will cause similar ones in other industrialized countries in the near future [6].

Compared with railroads or streetcar lines, the highway seemed to provide the essential advantage that it can go anywhere if the city wants it. For several decades it was believed -- especially in the U.S.A. -- that the more highways one builds, the better life would be [3]. During the last few years the truth began to dawn, that such random growth can lead to undesirable results of various kinds; bad urban form getting worse rapidly; congestion, accidents and fatalities; air and noise pollution; ineffective use of limited resources in terms of energy and land. This has already led in some places to a real degradation in the quality of urban living, which can be traced directly to a misuse of technology, the highway transportation system [3].

But what could be the role of automation in this scenario? This new technology offers the first possibility to change from an extensive development of transportation systems to an intensive one. What does that mean? Any past development of transportation systems has been achieved by brute force -- more and bigger traffic areas using more concrete, stronger engines, more and more vehicles -- at Obviously it is in principle impossible to higher cost. continue in this manner in more and more cities. The digital computer and the related automation technology provide a promising alternative. The extensive use of automation in urban transportation systems can lead to an entirely new level of transportation service, an increase in capacity and a decrease in operating costs (including a decreased impact on energy reserves and environment), as well as to new standards for safety.

It is reasonable to assume that this new systems technology could give an impulse to better urban transportation similar to that given by the magnetic compass to the extension of the sea transport from the local to the global arena, or by the telegraph and telephone to the development of nationwide railway dispatching systems (cf. Figure 1). This assumption will be considered in more detail in the following. A brief summary of the fundamental concepts proposed for the solution of urban traffic problems is presented first.

2. Concepts for the Reduction of Urban Traffic Problems

2.1 The Problems

The social, economic and other effects of urban traffic that are particularly important to cities of IIASA's NMO countries may be divided into those influencing safety, mobility, resources and environment (cf. Figure 2 and [2, 5, 6, 11, 17, 18, 20, 46]).

Traffic safety (accidents and fatalities): (i) Figure 3 illustrates that there exists a correlation between the number of human beings killed in accidents and the number of private cars. In 1970, about 56,000 fatalities occurred in the U.S.A. and 19,000 in the Federal Republic of Germany (FRG) [8, 18, 19]. The economic losses caused by street accidents in the FRG have been estimated to be about \$1 billion per annum. In other countries, especially in the Eastern European ones including the Soviet Union, such a serious situation is at present non-existent. However, as one can see from the curve in Figure 3 for Berlin, the number of motor cars in cities is rapidly increasing also in these countries, and -- with a certain delay -- similar difficulties can be expected if future development is not analyzed and controlled carefully. Joint activities concerning the increase of traffic safety have therefore been started recently [6].



PROPOSALS FOR THEIR SOLUTION.

ו 5



FIG. 3: DEVELOPMENT OF NUMBER OF CARS AND FATALITIES. (cf.[8,18,19])

- 6 -

(ii) Mobility: Traffic congestion is another serious problem caused by increasing use of motor cars in cities. It has been estimated that the time losses caused by congestion in Paris are approximately equal to the daily working time of a city with 100,000 inhabitants. The Road Research Laboratory [48] has found that in Britain the loss to the community from delays in a city with about 100 intersections is in the order of £4 million per year. This value does not take into account the fact that traffic congestion also results in a remarkable increase in air pollution and noise levels. For Tokyo it has been estimated that the overall losses caused by inefficient traffic flows through the main 268 intersections amount to 57 billion yen, i.e. about \$200 million, annually [58].

(iii) Endangering of the urban environment: Increasing levels of air pollution, noise and vibration of buildings, as well as the severance of the urban area by more and bigger freeways and arterial streets, is the third negative factor in the increased use of the automobile [8, 20]. Approximately 50% of all manmade air pollution in U.S. cities is produced by motor cars. These environmental problems motivate the migration of people from cities to suburban areas, thus creating more traffic.

(iv) <u>Resources</u>: The fourth main problem concerns ineffective consumption of resources, i.e. energy and land [8, 20]. Of all energy consumed in the U.S.A., about 13% is used for motor cars, i.e. approximately 26% of all petroleum. Twenty-eight percent of the areas in the U.S. cities is devoted to vehicles. In Atlanta, 54% of the downtown area is reserved for parking and driving, which is still insufficient.

2.2 The Concepts

Now let us turn to the question: What solutions can be offered for these problems which vastly influence the quality

- 7 -

of urban living? The general aim must be to reorganize existing traffic systems and to design new ones in such a way that (cf. Figure 2):

- the urban environment is protected;
- the resources, in terms of energy and land, are conserved as much as possible;
- the safety is increased;
- the mobility is increased.

The gap between automobile transportation demand and supply can be reduced only by means of a complex policy to control (cf. Figure 4 and [58]):

- the transportation demand changing in time and space;
- the transportation supply characterized by the capacity of roads, parking lots, and other transport facilities.

In developing such control policies the time span between their formulation and the realization benefits from them must be considered carefully; that is, a distinction between short-term and long-term policies is necessary.

2.2.1 Control of Demand (cf. Figure 4)

(i) Long-term strategies: Automobile transportation demands arise and are concentrated as a result of the configuration of urban land use and activities. The first level of policy to control demand, therefore, is to implement controls on the *spatial distribution* of origin-destination demands generated in the city. These would include measures such as urban redevelopment, new town construction, factory and market relocation and reorganization of other urban facilities. These measures are long-range and require sustained expenditures over long spans of time to implement.

(ii) <u>Medium-term strategies</u>: The second level of policy to control demand is to implement controls on demand *volumes* which, given the existing configuration of urban land use and activities, aim to reduce use and ownership of

| | CONTROL OF SUPPLY | CONTROL OF DEMAND |
|---|--|--|
| LONG TERM | CHANGING THE <u>STRUCTURE</u> OF THE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM (e.g. creation of new systems) | CHANGING THE <u>SPATIAL</u> DISTRIBUT: JN OF DEMAND |
| TIME SPAN (to accomplish results) | CHANGING THE PHYSICAL CAPACITY OF THE TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM (e.g. enlargement of traffic areas) | CHANGING DEMAND <u>VOLUMES</u> (by controlling automobile use and ownership) |
| | CHANGING (IMPROVING) THE OPERATION OF EXISTING TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS | CHANGING THE <u>TIME</u> <u>DISTRIBUTION</u> OF DEMAND |

FIG. 4: LONG AND SHORT TERM TRANSPORTATION SUPPLY AND DEMAND POLICIES (cf. [58]).

ہ - 9 .

the automobile. Such controls could take the form of increased automobile taxes, stricter requirements for automobile ownership, curbs on driving into the central business district, increased gasoline taxes, etc. In addition to these steps to discourage driving, measures could be taken to encourage people to use the telephone instead of travelling and to use public transportation. Unfortunately existing public transportation systems cannot, in many cases, provide an acceptable alternative to private cars. This is due to their lower attractivity and the fact that busses and streetcars often operate in the same traffic areas as the private cars, so that their travelling speeds decrease as do those of private cars.

A sociological study carried out by INFAS (cf. Figure 5 and [134]) illustrated that the following three criteria are the most significant in the choice of transportation mode:

- (1) travel time,
- (2) convenience,
- (3) independence with respect to departure time and destination.

Most drivers prefer using a private car, even though it is more expensive and less safe than public transportation (cf. Figure 5).

(iii) <u>Short-term strategies</u>: The third level of policy to control demand is to institute measures aimed at controlling the *time distribution* of transport demands in the city -- for example, those generated by commuting to work and school. In general, traffic congestion is caused merely by excessive concentration of demand. By controlling the time distribution of demand, therefore, a better balance between supply and demand can be achieved. Included in this catagory are measures such as staggering work and school hours.



FIG. 5: RESULTS OF AN INQUIRY CONCERNING THE ATTRACTIVITY OF PRIVATE CAR AND PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION USE CARRIED OUT BY'INFAS' IN HAMBURG, BREMEN, DORTMUND IN 1968 (248 DRIVERS) (cf. [134]).

- 11 .

2.2.2 Control of Supply (cf. Figure 4)

Long-term strategies: The first and most basic (i) level of policy to control the supply of transportation concerns the structure of the system, e.q. road networks, subway lines, etc. By constructing new roads, bypasses, overpasses and parking lots and by abolishing old roads, it is possible, for example, to change the overall structure of the road network and thereby the flow of traffic over it. On the other hand the increased construction of more and bigger highways alone will not present an acceptable solution: more highways produce additional traffic, land consumption and endangering of the urban environment will continue, and in principle it will be impossible to build traffic areas sufficient by large for the increasing number of cars in cities. This is especially true for most of the European cities which have grown up historically. Moreover, as mentioned under 2.2.1 (cf. Figure 5), changing the structure of existing modes of public transportation will probably not lead to reduced automobile traffic demand. Therefore one basic long-term policy consists in the development of entirely new (automated, demand-oriented) public transportation systems (cf. Section 5).

(ii) <u>Medium-term strategies</u>: The second level of policy to control the supply of automobile transportation concerns the physical *capacity* of the system to link origin and destination points. Included in this category are measures which alter the capacity of the road network, such as widening roads and enlarging parking facilities.

(iii) <u>Short-term strategies</u>: The third level of policy to control supply concerns the *operation* of the different parts of the transportation system as well as of the whole system. Included in this category are measures which restrict or limit the use of a link or its connection with other links, e.g. establishing one-way roads, speed limits, etc. Moreover, the optimization of system operation by automation and computer control belongs to this level. Policies of this kind focus on short time units of weeks, months or even a few years.

2.3 Towards Computerized Traffic Control

It is quite obvious that the feasibility of the supply and demand control policies summarized here depends on conditions differing from country to country. For example, measures of the first (long-term) levels mentioned above aim at fundamentally restructuring transportation supply and demand by changing the configuration of urban land use and activities, and thus will require many years to formulate, implement and realize. It is equally difficult to restructure transportation demand, since demand is closely related to the pattern of land use, the location of urban functions, and social customs and practices. While working toward long-term policies, therefore, it is important to implement measures which will help to close the gap between supply and demand by short-term strategies, i.e. improving operation of existing systems and changing the time distribution of demand. One promising measure consists in changing operation of the urban highway system in such a manner that the capacity of the road network as far as possible is automatically adapted to the automobile transportation demand changing in time and space.

A possibility for dynamically changing the capacity of road network has now been created by traffic-responsive computer control of the traffic flow. This application area of modern automation and computer technology, which is fast developing, is the subject of Section 3. The possibilities for improving existing public transportation by automation and computer control are considered in Section 4. In those sections we try to find answers to the question: What benefits can a city expect concerning the improvement of existing transportation systems by the implementation of computerized traffic control systems? Finally, Section 5 examines the role modern automation technology will pliv in the creation of new modes of transportation characterized by high adaptability of their supply to changing demand. Here the following question is of primary interest (cf. Figure 1): Will it be technologically possible to create during the next ten years or so entirely new highly automated urban transportation systems characterized by demand-oriented, safe, pollution-free and resource-conserving operation?

It is obvious that this paper cannot go in depth into all details of these topics. Its aim is rather to identify promising areas of future research work by presenting a survey of the following:

- the *concepts* developed for automation and computer control of urban transportation systems;
- the *methods* used, proposed or needed for implementation and optimal operation of these systems;
- the *results* obtained in real applications or expected from simulation studies, theoretical investigations, etc.

3. Computer Control of Urban Street and Freeway Traffic

In large urban areas one must distinguish the following control problems:

- surveillance and control of traffic on freeways, main roads, tunnels, etc. (freeway and road traffic control, cf. [21-37]);
- surveillance and control of vehicular traffic in urban street networks (area traffic control, cf. [38-76]);
- integration of freeway and area control systems into a traffic corridor control system [29, 46, 57, 58].

3.1 Freeway and Road Traffic Control

If the traffic variables volume, density, and mean speed exceed certain critical values, then the danger of congestion and accidents increases rapidly, and implementation of an automated surveillance and control system for the freeway becomes necessary. These critical values are given by the following relations [29]:

| Volume | · <u>></u> | 3,000 | vehicles | per | hour | per t | wo lanes |
|---------|---------------|-------|----------|-----|-------|-------|----------|
| Density | > | 50 | vehicles | per | km pe | r two | lanes |
| Speed | <u><</u> | 60 | km/hour. | | | | |

It is interesting to note that existing control concepts can be regarded as levels of an integrated hierarchically structured control systems (cf. Figure 6). These levels are:

- (1) optimal guidance of main traffic streams through a network of freeways and surface streets [21, 23, 24, 27, 29, 33, 35];
- (3) optimal control of movement of individual vehicles.

3.1.1 Optimal Guidance of Vehicular Traffic Streams (cf. Figure 6, Level 1)

The concept: The computing system will assist (i) the driver in finding the (in some sense) best route leading from a certain origin $\{0\}$ to a desired destination $\{D\}$, taking account of changing traffic conditions in different parts of the network caused e.g. by accidents, weather, maintenance operations (cf. Figure 6, Level 1). The computer is provided with information by traffic detectors, evaluates the traffic situation by certain estimation techniques, and determines the optimal routes in real time These routes are shown to the drivers by operation. changeable computer-controlled road signs located at freeway off-ramps and essential intersections of the arterial street network [21, 24, 27, 33, 35]. Several concepts propose the additional use of displays within the cars, so that drivers need not pay too much attention to the road

| CONCEPTS | METHODS | RESULTS |
|--|---|--|
| LEVEL 1: OPTIMAL TRAFFIC GUIDANCE ROADSIGNS COMPUTER | IN USE: HEURISTIC METHODS • <u>CRITERIA</u> : EQUAL TRAVELLING TIMES FOR DIFFERENT ROUTES • <u>METHODS</u> : ESTIMATION OF TRAVELLING TIMES AND PREDICTION BY MACROSCOPIC SIMULATION MODEL | FRANCE: PROJECT "PORTE DU LANGUEDOC" (LYON-NIMES) - 40%, 70% DECREASE .CONGESTION [kmh] -50%80% OF DRIVERS FOLLOWED THE CHANGEABLE SIGNS [cf.(21)] |
| $\begin{array}{c} \underline{2.1} : RAMP METERING \\ \\ E \\ \mathbf{x}_1, \mathbf{x}_2 \\ \mathbf{y}_1 \\ y$ | <u>CRITERION</u>: MAX. THROUGHPUT TIME OF DAY (OPEN LOOP) CONTROL: MATHEMATICAL PROGRAMMING TRAFFIC RESPONSIVE (FEED BACK) CONTROL | LOS ANGELES (SIMULATION) ACCIDENT IN SEC.12 m/h 40 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 |
| 2 TRAFFIC LIGHT | ● <u>CRITERION</u> :SAFE AND UNDELAYED MERGING | HOUSTON: SPEED 30°/。 ↑ CAPACITY 10°/。 ↑ ACCIDENTS 30°/。↓ (cf.[24]) |
| L 31:REG.OFA STRING OF VEHICLE | • <u>CRITERION</u> : MAX.CAPAC. $c = \frac{V}{L + c_1 V + c_2 V^2}$ • <u>CRITERION</u> : INCREASING SAFETY AND | SIMULATIONS ONLY (cf.[34a, 36a]) JAPAN, USA, FRG |
| | CAPACITY FIG.6: FREEWAY AND ROAD T | TEST VEHICLES RAFFIC CONTROL (cf.[21-37]) |

ł 16 -

•

signs (cf. Section 3.3 and [24, 25a, 34b, 57, 58, 75]).

(ii) <u>Results</u>: Some systems using changeable road signs have been implemented with extraordinary success, in France during the last five years [21, 27]. Comparative before-and-after studies, carried out for the project "Ponte du Languedoc" in the area of Lyon and Nimes during the summer of 1970 and 1971 respectively, resulted in the following conclusions:

- (1) traffic congestion expressed by queue length (in
 km) multiplied by waiting time (in hours) could
 be reduced by 40-70%;
- (2) before starting the first experiment, it was assumed that 30% of the drivers would follow the changeable road signs; in actuality, 50 to 80% accepted the advice given to them.

This experience suggests that a sophisticated and successfully implemented route guidance system could result:

- in a remarkable reduction of travelling times;
- in the avoidance or at least reduction of traffic congestion and a decrease in the number of accidents by more equable utilization of the available traffic areas, and in an enlargement of network capacity;
- as a consequence, in a decrease in the level of noise and air pollution.

(iii) <u>Methodology</u>: The methodology used in the French system is relatively simple. As a control criterion, the requirement for nearly equal travelling times through different alternative routes is considered useful. The control algorithm contains two essential parts:

- estimation of travelling times in different links of the network using detector data;
- (2) prediction of traffic conditions during the next time interval, i.e. traffic forecasting for a time period of about 5 to 10 minutes. This has been done by a macroscopic traffic flow simulation model [21].

It seems that these problems are a fruitful field for the application of modern methods of parameter and state

estimation, e.g. of Kalman filters [31, 36].

3.1.2 Freeway Traffic Flow Control

3.1.2.1 Ramp metering (cf. Figure 6 - Level 2.1)

(i) <u>The concept</u>: The aim of this control system consists in maintaining traffic demand along all parts of the freeway below the critical level by restricting freeway access using signal lights at the entrance ramps or the neighboring surface streets. Most successfully implemented systems use a bang-bang control policy, i.e. the ramp is closed if there is congestion in the flow direction [24, 26, 30]. A control system which continually changes the inflow rates depending on traffic flow by changing the green times of the traffic light at the on-ramps is being developed.

(ii) <u>Methodology</u>: The number of cars u_1 , u_2 , u_3 entering ramps 1, 2, 3... of the freeway per time interval may be introduced as control variables (cf. Figure 6). The state of the freeway is characterized by mean speeds x_1 , x_3 ... of the traffic flow in these sections and the corresponding traffic densities, x_2 , x_4 ..., i.e. the number of cars in them (cf. Figure 6, Level 2.1).

Two different control problems can be distinguished:

- time of day (open loop) control, in which signal time plans are computed for the traffic lights at entrance ramps using given traffic demand patterns obtained from historical data. One obtains nominal values of the control variables u_i and the state variables x_i, speed and density, which will ensure a maximum of traffic throughput. This is, of course, no longer true if disturbances, e.g. an accident occur. For this situation, it has been proposed to use
- a feedback control system which minimizes deviations between the nominal and actual values; i.e. these deviations are now considered as control and state variables and described by u and x respectively in Figure 6, Level 2.1.

1

This has the advantage that a linear state equation

$$\dot{\mathbf{x}} = (\mathbf{A}) \mathbf{x} + (\mathbf{B}) \mathbf{u} \tag{1}$$

can be used. Here \underline{x} represents the state vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathrm{T}} = (\mathbf{x}_{1}, \dots, \mathbf{x}_{n}) \tag{2}$$

which describes the deviations of the nominal values of the mean traffic speeds and densities in the freeway sections i = 1(1)n/2, and u characterizes the control vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathrm{T}} = (\mathbf{u}_{1}, \dots, \mathbf{u}_{n/2}) \tag{3}$$

which describes the deviations of the nominal traffic volumes entering the freeway via the entrance ramps k = 1(1)n/2. The matrices (A) (n × n) and (B) (n × $\frac{n}{2}$) are constant if one assumes stationary conditions (cf. [28, 28a] for more details). If one accepts, as an optimality criterion, the minimization of the quadratic cost functional

$$I(\underline{u}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \left\{ \underline{x}^{T}(t) \quad (Q) \quad \underline{x}(t) + \underline{u}^{T}(t) \quad (R) \quad \underline{u}(t) \right\} dt , \quad (4)$$

i.e. the minimization of the integral over the deviations from the nominal values weighted by the positive, definite and semi-definite cost matrices (R) and (Q) respectively, then the optimal control vector $\underline{u}^*(t)$ can be obtained in feedback form by

$$\underline{u}^{*}(t) = -(R)^{-1} (B)^{T} (P) \underline{x}(t) = (K) \underline{x}(t) , \quad (5)$$

where (P) is the unique symmetric positive-definite solution

of the matrix Riccati equation

L

The regulator matrix

$$(K) = -(R)^{-1} (B)^{T} (P)$$
(7)

permits determination of the control variables u_i by means of the state variables x_i (cf. equation (5)). Unfortunately, it is not possible to take measurements for the state variables, namely for:

- the density deviations (in vehicles per mile) and
- the mean speed deviations (in miles per hour per length of the freeway section) directly.

By means of traffic detectors, one can measure only at single points, i.e. at the beginning and the end of a freeway section (cf. Figure 6, Level 2.1):

- the traffic volume (in vehicles per hour)

- the mean speeds (in miles per hour).

Therefore, one has to deal with a state estimation problem, i.e. applying a suitable estimation procedure to determine the state variables with sufficient accuracy using stochastically disturbed measurements of the volumes and speeds. Only a few authors have tried to apply modern estimation techniques such as the extended Kalman filter to this problem (cf. Nahi [31], and Szeto and Gazis [36]).

(iii) <u>Results</u>: There are several systems in operation which use fixed time metering or even bang-bang control, where the entrance ramp is closed for a certain period of time [24, 26, 30]. Specially designed road signs suggest that drivers use another entrance ramp [24]. The development of feedback control systems is still a subject of fundamental research. Results obtained in simulation studies carried out by Isaksen and Payne [28a] suggest that such a system can lead to remarkable results in avoiding congestion caused by certain incidents, e.g. an accident. For example, in a study for the Los Angeles Freeway they assumed that a stalled vehicle was blocking one lane in section 12 for about 30 minutes (cf. Figure 6, Level 2.1), causing congestion in the previous (upstream) sections after a certain delay. Now it is interesting to note that in Section 4, for example, for the fixed time control system, the speed decreased to about 5 mph in 50 minutes after the incident happened, and after 60 minutes remained for some time at 20 mph below the initial speed (compare curve 2 in Figure 6). On the other hand, the feedback control system can obviously avoid such serious disturbance by optimal limiting of upstream freeway access to the point where the incident has happened (compare curve 1 in Figure 6).

There is an unusual phenomenon of freeway ramp control that is not widely understood. Ramp control improves the traffic flow not only on the freeway itself, but also on the adjacent surface streets. At first glance, this seems impossible, since reducing input rates at freeway ramps must divert some vehicles from the freeway, which one would assume could only produce congestion on the surface streets. However, as can be shown, ramp control improves the efficiency of the freeway itself, actually enabling it to carry more vehicles and resulting in a net benefit to the whole freeway corridor (cf. Ross [67a]).

3.1.2.2 Freeway traffic flow control by speed limitations and other measures

Other possibilities of controlling traffic flow on a freeway consist in using changeable remote-control road signs

- to limit the speed of traffic flow if large traffic volumes exceed certain values or if weather conditions are bad,

- to forbid takeover maneuvers,
- to inform drivers about emergency situations, e.g. accidents in the flow direction.

Several systems of that kind have been successfully implemented [24, 26, 29, 30, 32, 33, 37].

3.1.3 Merging Control (cf. Figure 6, Level 2.2)

The aim of this control system is to assist drivers to merge with a high-density traffic stream and thus to increase the ramp capacity and traffic safety. The following concept is applied. If a driver enters a freeway, he must stop his car at the red traffic light at the entrance ramp until acceptable gap values and the gap speed in the traffic stream are identified by the control computer. The computer is provided with information by gap detectors. If the traffic light changes to green than the driver accelerates and meets the traffic stream at the predicted gap, assuming he uses an average value for the acceleration of his car. То reduce the difficulties which could be caused by wrong acceleration values, several systems use a band of green lamps moving with the required speed. If the driver keeps the position of his car within the limits given by the green band, he will reach the predicted gap in the traffic stream safely [24, 29].

Experimental installations have already demonstrated that the system helps reduce congestion and increases capacity. By a system of that kind, which was operating on Gulf Freeway in Houston, the number of accidents dropped by 30%, freeway speeds rose by 30%, and capacity improved by 10% [24].

3.1.4 Optimal Control of the Movement of Individual Vehicles (cf. Figure 6, Level 3)

The problems of Level 3 of the control hierarchy concern:

- distance regulation in a string of moving vehicles (cf. Figure 6, Level 3.1),

- speed and acceleration control of individual vehicles, including collision prevention systems using radar distance measuring devices inside the car (cf. Figure 6, Level 3.2).

The main aim in developing these systems is to increase traffic safety (collision prevention) and enlarge freeway capacity. The capacity C of a freeway, in vehicles per hour, depends, according to the well-known formula

$$C = \frac{V}{L + c_1 v + c_2 v^2} , \qquad (8)$$

on speed v, average car length L, and the two parameters c_1 and c_2 . Here c_2 is inverse proportional to the maximum rate r of deceleration and $\ensuremath{c_1}$ is equal to perception plus reaction time of the driver, which can be assumed to be about 1 second. The maximum of the capacity curve (cf. Figure 6, Level 3.1) depends on c1 and c2. If it were possible to reduce parameter c_1 from 1.0 to 0.1 seconds, street capacity could be increased by 150% or more in certain speed interval; i.e. 50% more motor cars could drive on the street at the same speed. The question is how to reduce parameter c1. This can be done by automatic control of the distances between individual cars. Such a system is generally considered a first step in an automated highway system which we must consider as a total-systems innovation (cf. Section 5). At present research is underway to investigate the feasibility of a semi-automatic control system in which the driver is an active systems element; the aim of the system is to assist the driver in finding an optimal (in some sense) way of smooth and safe driving in a string of vehicles.

Such a system needs a sophisticated electronic system on board for automatic distance measurement by radar, automatic computation of an optimal driving regime, and control of driver displays. The progress made in the development of LSI electronic circuits during the past few years will

- 23 -

probably allow construction of an electronic device that is sufficiently small, reliable and cheap [10, 25a]. A more serious problem is the development of control algorithms ensuring stable and safe traffic flow of the whole vehicle string [36a] and the optimal design of the man-machine (driver-car-environment) system, especially of the driver displays [34a]. These problems are still open for fundamental research work [10, 34a, 36a].

3.2 Traffic Control in Urban Street Networks

The concepts proposed for computer control of vehicular traffic in an urban street network may be considered -- as in Section 3.1 of this paper -- at different levels of a hierarchically structured control system (cf. Figure 7):

- (i) optimal traffic guidance,
- (ii) optimal coordination of traffic lights:
 - (ii.l) area traffic control,
 - (ii.2) traffic control in arterial streets,
 - (ii.3) traffic control at single intersections.

3.2.1 Optimal Guidance of the Main Traffic Streams Through an Urban Street Network (cf. Figure 7, Level 1)

(i) <u>The concept</u>: This problem is obviously quite similar to that already discussed for freeway traffic control (cf. Figure 6, Level 1); that is, the computing system has to identify the (in some sense) optimal route between certain origin and destination points (e.g. between A and B in Figure 7), taking into account the real traffic situation in different parts of the network. On the other hand, it is much more complicated because of the more complex network structure and origin-destination relations.

(ii) <u>Methodology</u>: The methodology in use is concerned with the so-called *static assignment problem* widely used for planning purposes [61]. These methods can obviously be used

| CONCEPTS | METHODS | RESULTS |
|---|---|--|
| LEVEL 1: OPTIMAL TRAFFIC GUIDANCE | CRITERIA: AIR POLLUTION METHODS IN USE: STATIC - TRAFFIC ASSIGNMENT BY MATH. PROGRAM METHODS PROPOSED: TIME OF DAY (OPEN LOOP) CONTROL TRAFFIC RESPONSIVE (FEEDBACK) CONTROL | EXPECTED RESULTS: ENSURE EQUILIBRIUM (STABILITY) OF NET WORK TRAFFIC MORE EQUABLE USE OF LIMITED AREAS (cf.[39,42,57,58,59,69,71,75]) |
| LEVEL 2: TRAFFIC LIGHT COORDINATION 2.1: AREA TRAFFIC CONTROL 22: ARTERIAL STREET CONTROL 23: SINGLE INTERSECTION CONTROL | CRITERIA: STOPPAGE MODE FOR LIGHT TRAFFIC DELAYMEDIUM CAPACITY MEDIUM QUEUEVERY DENSE TRAFFIC JAM MODE FOR CONGESTIONS <u>METHODS:</u> TIME OF DAY (OPEN LOOP) CONTROL: <u>MATHEMATICAL PROGRAMMING</u> TRAFFIC RESPONSIVE SIGNAL PROGRAM SELECTION (ADAPTIVE OPEN LOOP CONTROL) TRAFFIC RESPONSIVE SIGNAL PROGRAM GENERATION OR MODIFICATION (FEEDBACK CONTROL) | TOKYO: 13°/31°/. DECREASE OF DELAY IN SPITE OF 15°/. INCREASE OF VOLUME 30°/. DECREASE OF ACCIDENTS RUSH HOUR SPEED INCREASED FROM &mph to 16mph 24°/45°/. DECREASE STOPS (cf.[51,46]) FIG. 7: TRAFFIC CONTROL IN URBAN STREET NETWORKS |

1

,

for a time-of-day open-loop control system, i.e. for precomputation of optimal routes and changing road signs in dependence on time. Little work has been done so far for developing traffic-responsive feedback control systems permitting adaptive routing in the arterial network of a large city [39].

(iii) <u>Expected results</u>: So far a route guidance system for a complex urban street network has not been implemented. But during the last few years there has been growing interest in such systems [42, 57, 58, 71, 75], from which the following results are expected:

- keeping the traffic in a certain equilibrium state even in the case of incidents, such as accidents, maintenance operations, stalled vehicles, etc., in certain parts of the network;
- more equitable utilization of the available traffic areas;
- decreasing levels of air pollution in endangered areas. (Work on this topic is under way in Japan as part of the general "Environmental Pollution Control Project" [11, 50, 54, 62, 68]).

Route guidance represents one of the main routes toward the integration of freeway and urban street network controls into a comprehensive automobile control system (cf. Section 3.3, and [57, 58, 75]).

3.2.2 Coordination of Traffic Lights (cf. Figure 7, Level 2)

The largest number of traffic computers are in operation for problems of traffic light coordination, i.e. for area traffic control, traffic light coordination in an arterial street, and traffic light control at single (complex) intersections (cf. [38, 40-49, 51-53, 55, 56, 60, 63-67, 69-73]).

(i) <u>The concept</u>: Traffic control deals with the coordination of traffic lights in a street network using a control computer or system of computers. Traffic detectors installed in the roadbed or at the roadside provide information Ł

on the real traffic situation, i.e. traffic volume, speed, etc. By means of a stored control strategy, the computer selects or generates optimal signal light programs for the traffic lights -- the length of the red-yellow-green cycles, the proportion of red to green and the offset between the beginning of the green lights at neighboring intersections.

The first control system of this kind was sucessfully implemented in Toronto in the early sixties; and by now a large number of cities all over the world have computerized traffic control systems [38, 45, 46, 47, 49, 51, 69, 72, 73]. The most advanced area traffic control system has been installed in the Tokyo metropolitan area [51]. A hierarchically structured computing system has been coupled with several thousand signalized intersections (8,000 in the final stage).

(ii) <u>Methodology</u>: The traffic control methods in use in different countries can be classified under the following headings:

- precomputation of optimal signal programs for time-ofday open-loop control using heuristic methods or methods of mathematical programming, e.g. dynamic programming;
- traffic-responsive signal program selection, i.e. adaptive open-loop control;
- traffic-responsive signal program modification and generation, i.e. feedback control

(cf. [46, 48, 64, 67, 69, 70] and Figure 7, Level 2).

For adaptive open-loop control the signal programs are stored in the computer as fixed-time programs, from which, on the basis of traffic detector information, a program is selected which corresponds to the existing traffic situation. The number of fixed-time programs stored depends on the expected number of traffic-flow fluctuations in the course of the day; the usual number lies between 10 and 20. The signal programs change at certain intervals which depend on the extent and frequency of the traffic-flow fluctuations. However, in order to avoid frequent switching over of programs, i.e. instability of the system, the measuring values have to be smoothed.

Another control system promising the greatest adaptability for changing traffic situations is signal program generation or modification, i.e. feedback control. Here only the given restrictions are stored in the computer while the actual signal programs are continuously calculated on the basis of detector information. This feedback control concept is used only in advanced systems [43, 44, 51, 52, 60, 67].

Traffic conditions change in time and space in an unpredictable manner; in complicated situations, one must thus handle the traffic control problem by a multicriterion approach. This has been done for the Tokyo system, which uses a multicriterion control strategy with feedback features. One optimal control criterion is first selected from a number of criteria, and then the system is optimized. The following criteria are used [51, 52, 60] (cf. Figure 7):

- stoppage mode for light traffic,
- delay mode for medium traffic,
- capacity mode for saturated intersections,
- queue mode for very dense traffic,
- jam mode for congested conditions.

In most existing area traffic control systems one of the first three criteria is used together with adaptive openloop control, i.e. signal program selection. On the other hand, a feedback control structure will always be necessary for heavy traffic conditions, e.g. for the jam or queue mode criteria. This is the point at which methods of modern control theory become useful and necessary, as illustrated in Appendix A by an example for the so-called jam-mode criterion (control of a congested or oversaturated network; cf. [74, 63]). It may be said that, although a number of traffic control computers have been successfully installed, the potential advantages of their programmable flexibility remain largely unexplored by most of the traffic engineers.

(iii) <u>Results</u>: We will now consider what results can be obtained with systems already in operation. For the Tokyo system, a comparison of the operational experiences with the old (non-computerized) system (1969) and the new computerized one (1970) revealed that, despite a 15% increase in traffic volume during one year, delays decreased by 13 to 31% and traffic accidents by 30% [51]. The travelling speed during rush hours increased 8 mph to 16 mph.

The installation of traffic signal control systems is easier and involves less investment than any alternative measures such as, for example, building new roads or completely replanning the city center. Cost/benefit analysis performed in various cities that have installed area traffic control systems (Glasgow, West London, Madrid, Turin) indicates that the actual cost of initial installation is balanced by the benefits accumulated in the first six months of This result does not take into account the operation [46]. decrease in the number of accidents. Such a favorable ratio exceeds the most optimistic expectation of any cost/benefit analysis in public works or business enterprises by at least one order of magnitude. From the methodological point of view it is important to emphasize that the cost/benefit relation is highly dependent on the efficiency of the methodology used, i.e. the control strategy.

In spite of these successes, several problems remain unsolved and new problems are still occurring -- problems concerning risk evaluation (in the case of destroying a control center coupled with thousands of intersections) [51], reliability and centralization or decentralization of computing power, e.g. using mini-computers or even micro-processes [41, 44].

3.3 Integrated Urban Automobile Traffic Control Systems

One can observe a recent trend to integrate area traffic

and freeway traffic control systems into a comprehensive urban automobile traffic control and information system [57, 58, 75, 76].

(i) <u>The concept</u>: One main concern of such a system is to handle the whole urban automobile traffic in a coordinated manner. An essential feature is the improvement of communication links between the drivers and the control center. The following are basic functions of control and information systems [58].

- Route guidance: the most important task is to integrate the freeway and urban street network guidance systems described in Sections 3.1.1 and 3.2.1 respectively, by means of a comprehensive information exchange between the control center and the individual automobiles. The following concept has been proposed [58] (cf. Figure 9):

At the start of a trip, the driver puts the code number of his destination picked from a map into a keyboard mounted in the vehicle. This number is transmitted by a vehicle antenna and an inductive loop embedded into the street surface to a roadside unit, probably a micro-processor, which is connected with the central computation system. The micro-processor is informed by the central system about the optimal route and transmits that route, via the loop antenna, to the vehicle where it is shown on a driver display. The driver thus receives the instructions to turn right, turn left or proceed straight (cf. Figure 9). By reacting appropriately, he avoids areas of traffic congestion and reaches his desired destination by a (in a certain sense) optimum route (cf. also Sections 3.1.1 and 3.2.1).

- Driving information: advance information on speed limits, stop signs, and other road regulations is transmitted from the roadside units and visually displayed to drivers. Moreover, the system monitors individual vehicles and issues a warning to the driver if a breach of driving regulations occurs. In this way the system helps to prevent accidents due to driver carelessness.
- Public-service vehicle priority: traffic signals at major intersections are controlled such as to give police cars, ambulances, busses and other publicservice vehicles priority to pass through the intersection. One essential feature is therefore coordination with public transportation systems (cf. Section 4).



FIG.9: INTEGRATION OF VEHICLES INTO THE TRAFFIC CONTROL SYSTEM

.

- Emergency information: information on fires, accidents, earthquakes and other emergency situations which affect driving safety is directly communicated by the control center to drivers. It is broadcast via roadside units and picked up immediately by the vehicle radios (automatically activated). The objective is to prevent traffic congestion in emergency situations.
- Other features: other possible functions are concerned with guidance of vehicles to empty parking spaces, monitoring the location and direction of moving police cars, and providing drivers with information on travel services.

The technology needed to implement such a traffic control and information system consists of the following components:

- The control center, containing central processing units for traffic data processing, route guidance, communication control, etc.; a central display unit which monitors and displays overall operating conditions; a communication control unit transmitting and receiving all data between central processing unit and roadside units; additional units for man-machine interaction and traffic data processing.
- The roadside units (cf. Figure 9) consisting of roadside communication and control units; roadside broadcasting units; route display boards (changeable road signs), and vehicle detectors.
- The vehicle units (cf. Figure 9), containing an operating keyboard; a two-way digital communication unit for receiving and transmitting data to or from roadside units; a display panel, and a device which automatically activates the car radio to receive information transmitted from roadside broadcasting units.

(ii) Expected results: Concepts for integrated traffic control systems are especially highly developed in Japan [57, 58, 75, 76]. The "comprehensive automobile control system" (CAC), for example, is one of the best supported research projects of the Japanese Ministry of International Trade and Industry [57]*. In 1977 a pilot project is to be carried out in an area of 25 km² in the southwestern section of Tokyo with about 1,330 equipped vehicles. The following benefits from CAC technology are anticipated:

^{*}The description presented here is closely related to this project [57, 58].
- more efficient and rational management of automobile transport;
- improvement of the flow of automobile traffic and reduction of traffic congestion;
- reduction of automobile fuel consumption by improving traffic flow;
- reduction of local air pollution by reducing traffic congestion;
- reduction of driver tensions and burdens;
- reduction of accidents;
- improvement of the social utility of police cars, busses, ambulances and other public-service vehicles.

It seems reasonable to expect the new technology to bring an essential improvement in existing and future traffic problems. On the other hand, it should be emphasized that technologies proposed for large cities such as Tokyo cannot simply be adapted to others, for example in Europe; the concept described here must first be carefully examined for its feasibility elsewhere, given the specific problems of different countries represented in IIASA.

4. Automation and Computer Control in Public Transportation Systems

Current activities in the field of computer control of public transportation systems are related to the application of computers in automatic bus and train monitoring and control systems [99-205], and to automatic scheduling and control of train operation for underground or other rapid rail transit systems [77-98].

4.1 Urban Railway Systems Control

For urban railway systems, one can distinguish the following hierarchy of tasks [77-98]:

- (i) optimal scheduling, seat reservation, etc. [79, 81, 82];
- (ii) automatic fare collection and optimal real-time control of train operation [77-80, 83, 86-88, 90-93, 97, 98];
- (iii) control of the movement of individual trains [79, 84, 92, 93, 95].

In level (ii), one must deal, for example, with the following problem. The computing system is coupled via line section remote control or local interlocking plants to the railway lines. Aided by a special train movement tracing program, each train on every track section is then accounted for by the computer. The actual train positions obtained are then compared with the nominal positions stored in the memory of the computer. Should the deviations exceed given limits, the computer starts an optimizing program for determining new crossings and turnout points within a preset disposition time interval so as to reduce existing delays and keep followup delay as small as possible. In other words, the computer has to set up an optimally modified timetable that permits reducing the existing deviations between the nominal and the actual situation, or, at the very least, keeping irrevocable delays within reasonable limits [86, 87, 91, 92, 93].

In level (iii) the following optimal control problem, among The trains must cover the distances between others, occurs: given starting-points and a fixed target point both in the running times prescribed by the schedule, and with a minimum of traction energy consumption. The task is to find a closedloop control algorithm, i.e. a computer program for the onboard control computer, which permits calculation in real time of the optimal driving regime by the measured state variables "target distance", "running speed" and "running time still available". This problem could be solved by the application of modern optimal control theory, i.e. the maximum principle of Pontryagin [92, 93]. It can be shown that implementation of such a control system will result in an substantially improved adherence to time tables and savings in driving energy of about 15% (cf. [93]).

Systems which are making extensive and successful use of at least some of the principles described here are

- the COMTRAC (computer aided traffic control system)

- 34 -

of the Japanese Shinkansen line [81, 82, 83, 86, 87, 88, 91, 94]; and

- the computer control system for BART (Bay Area Rapid Transit) in the San Francisco area [78], though--as is well known--this system has met difficulties in reaching sufficiently safe and reliable operation.

These and other railway systems [77-98] have demonstrated that extensive use of automation and computer control of urban railway systems will both increase their attractivity to the public (because of increased regularity, availability and quality of transportation service), and decrease personal and operating costs.

4.2 Bus and Tram Traffic Monitoring and Control

The increasing automobile traffic causes delays and other irregularities for public transportation systems operating in the same traffic areas as automobiles. This situation motivated the creation, during the last five years, of computer surveillance and control systems using the following two concepts:

(i) Computerized control centers have been established which permit automated identification of the bus positions, communication between drivers and dispatcher, and control of the transportation service if irregularities occur. Possible control strategies are advancing and retarding busses; use of recovery time; short turnaround times for busses; interchanging busses; and plugging a gap by injecting a bus from a reserve pool, removing a bus from a bunch going in the opposite direction on the same service, or removing a bus from another bunch in another service (cf. [99]).

The objectives of these control systems are to maintain adherence to schedule or headways between busses, to ensure that crews are relieved at scheduled times and places and can take their breaks at the correct time, and to deal with emergencies (breakdowns, traffic blocks) as they arise (cf. [99, 102, 104, 105]). So far no essential improvement of bus service has been achieved by such systems; but several countries are continuing their activities in developing more sophisticated concepts and methods for control and communication.

(ii) A second concept of improving public transportation service by computer control consists in giving priority to busses and trains in traffic-light control systems [103]. This may be considered a first step toward integration of area traffic control and public transportation system control [64].

5. New Modes of Urban Transportation

Now let us turn to the role automation and computer control will play in the creation of new urban transportation systems. Two classes of innovations are considered: operational innovations, using existing components, and totalsystems innovations.

5.1 Operational Innovations: DIAL-A-RIDE

The basic aim of introducing operational innovations into existing public transportation systems is to provide a possibility for adapting supply to changing traffic demand. This led to so-called Dial-a-Ride, Dial-a-Bus, Bus-Taxi or Demand-Bus systems [106-111]. The prospective passenger rings the control center either from his home telephone or by direct line free telephones at fixed stops, explaining his desired destination, the point of origin, and the number of people who want to make the journey. The dispatcher selects the appropriate bus and informs the passenger of the approximate arrival time. The request is written onto the appropriate bus tour schedule and is passed to the driver, either by hand, if the bus starts its tour from the control center office, or by twoway radio. Such a concept obviously covers a wide variety of transport needs, broadly filling the gap between the conventional scheduled and routed bus service and the taxi or private car (cf. Figure 10). It has the advantages that (1) more than



•

one party may take the vehicle at any given time; (2) the routing is programmed to yield a combination of high usage and reasonable waiting and trip times; and (3) the fares are substantially below those for taxis.

The simplest version of the demand-responsive bus system is the Many-to-One concept; here one important destination, e.g. the town center, a railway station, a bus station or a suburban shopping center, has to be connected with the surrounding service area. The Many-to-Few concept describes a Dial-a-Ride service which is focussed onto a small number of major nodes extending service between them and their tributary areas. Such a Dial-a-Ride system could operate in a small town, providing trips to and from the town center, industrial districts and railway stations. Finally, the Manyto-Many concept provides transportation from any origin to any destination within a given service area (cf. Figures 10 and 11).

What role will modern computer technology play in such new systems? If only a few busses are operated in a Many-to-One system within a relatively small service area, dispatching can be done by a human controller [108]. This is obviously not possible for the other two concepts or if the number of busses is larger than about five to ten. In this case a sophisticated computing system must assist the dispatcher by real-time scheduling and routing of the trips. For this purpose a comprehensive algorithm, the Computer Aided Routing System (CARS), has been developed by MIT [107].

Several computerized Dial-a-Bus systems have been developed [109, 110], but most of them are at the stage of a demonstration project only (cf. [106-111] for more details).

5.2 <u>Total-Systems Innovations: Automated Demand-Responsive</u> Urban Transportation

The proposals for total-systems innovations can be divided into two groups. The first are proposals for automated demandresponsive guideway systems: "PRT (Personal Rapid Transit)",



FIG.11: PROSPECTIVE PASSENGER REQUIREMENTS AND RESULTING FEATURES OF THE NEW TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM (cf.[134])

"people-mover", "Cabinentaxi", "CVS (Computer Controlled Vehicle Systems)" [112-118, 124, 126-129, 132, 134]. The second ones are those for the dual-mode systems [119 -122].

5.2.1 Automated Demand-Responsive Guideway Systems

(i) <u>Basic concept and expected results</u>: A solution of the problems described in Section 2 requires that the new systems fulfill as far as possible the requirements for mobility, safety, resources, and the environment.

Public acceptance of a new system requires that the system be attractive to prospective passengers: it must be convenient, independent concerning departure time and destination, and fast. Since the system would be a public one, it must be very reliable in operation and offer the possibility of integration into existing systems. From the point of view of protection of the environment and saving of resources it should be characterized by no air pollution, and low noise pollution; high capacity in small traffic areas, (low land consumption); low energy consumption; and adaptability to existing city structures.

These requirements, especially those of prospective passengers, are leading to a concept for a new system which is characterized by the following features (cf. Figures 11 and 12):

- small but comfortable vehicles, containing seats only, which are available at any station and any time with little or no waiting time; closely spaced stations providing easy walking access,
- direct origin-destination travel without the need for vehicle changing; off-line stations,
- high travelling speed (about 30 km/h),
- guideway separated from streets and highways,
- electrically driven vehicles (to reduce air and noise pollution and energy consumption),
- totally automated system operation: no drivers (which is essential for decreasing operational costs).

- 40 -

L



~

Fig 12: Hierarchical control system for guideway systems (cf. [116-118] "Cabinentaxi")

A system of that kind could represent [112-118, 127, 128] the main public transportation system for medium-sized cities with a population of about several hundred thousand; an additional system for large cities, working in conjunction with existing rapid rail systems; the main system for new suburban areas, connecting them with railway stations; and a suitable system for area transportation service from, to, or within airports, large industrial regions, exhibition and fair areas, etc. Moreover, some systems are expected to provide not only passenger service but also the possibility of goods transportation [112, 113].

From the point of view of the traveller the system would be operated in the following way (cf. Figure 12). The passenger buys a ticket for his destination point from an automatic selling device. This ticket contains, e.g. a magnetic code which characterizes the destination point. He puts his ticket into a reading device, which transmits this information to a central control computing system, and then enters a car which was waiting for him or was sent to the station by the computer; and the car leaves electrically driven. Computer controlled, it moves through the network non-stop to its destination point. When the passenger has left it, the empty car is guided by computer to the station where cars are needed. In the cabin-taxi system [116-118, 127] the cabins will be able to operate hanging below the guideway or on top of it.

It has been proposed to design small-sized cars in such a manner that they can be operated above or along streets, above a train or underground and in the interior of a building, e.g. a department store.

(ii) <u>Concepts and methodology for automation</u>: The most significant feature of these new urban transportation concepts is obviously automation and computer control; without extensive use of this new technology they are not feasible. This becomes even more obvious if one considers the relation between system capacity and its attractivity to passengers

(Figure 13). The system capacity, in seats per lane per hour, should be of a similar order of magnitude as for a modern rapid rail system (for a subway, about 30,000 persons per lane To offer an attractivity comparable to that of the per hour). private automobile, the vehicles should be small (not more than four seats) and the service should be demand-oriented. The headways between vehicles must be extremely small, i.e. in the order of 0.5 to ten seconds, if the capacity of the system is to be much larger than for private automobile traffic (cf. Figure 13). Obviously, a system with such parameters can be operated only with a very complex and efficient control system; this is of vital importance and will essentially determine the efficiency and the attractivity of the whole system. On the other hand, such service properties impose very high requirements concerning the reliability and safety of the control system. Therefore one distinguishes between PRT systems of the first, second and third generation (cf. Figure 13).

A representative of the first generation is the Morgantown (West Viriginia) system [114], now at the demonstration stage. That system is supposed to operate eight-seat vehicles with 15-second headways, achieving a capacity of about 1900 seats per lane per hour (cf. Figure 13).

For the second- and third-generation (high performance and high capacity) PRT systems, five concepts have been developed:

- (1) Cabtrack (UK) [128],
- (2) Aerospace (USA) [128],
- (3) Cabinentaxi (FRG) [116-118, 127, 134, 135],
- (4) CVS (Computer Controlled Vehicle System) (Japan)
 [112, 113],
- (5) Matra "Aramis" (France) [115].

The first two systems have been developed to the conceptual stage, with hardware developed and tested for some components. The latter three systems have gone beyond, to the prototype fabrication and test stage; Table 1 summarizes some of the parameters of these three systems.



- 44 -

| Name | Aramis | CVS | Cabinentaxi |
|--|------------------------------|--------------------|---------------------------|
| Country | France | Japan | FRG |
| Developed by | Engins-Matra | JSPM ¹⁾ | DEMAG + MBB ²⁾ |
| Test system in | Paris-Orly | Tokyo | Hagen/Westphalia |
| Vehicle capacity [seats] | 4 | 4 | 3 |
| Minimum headway [seconds] | 0.2 | 1 | 0.5-1.0 |
| Vehicle speed [km/h] | 50 | 60 | 36 |
| Maximum lane capacity [seats per hour] | ≈75,000 (with platconing) | ≈15,000 | ≈15,000 |

Table 1: Parameters of second and third generation PRT Systems.

The demand-responsive operation of these high-capacity and high-performance PRT systems requires the implementation of an hierarchically structured multi-computer control systems. In this connection it is interesting to observe that we have a 3-level hierarchical control system:

(i) <u>Network level</u>: The first level is concerned with supervision and control of traffic in the whole network by a central computer. This problem is very similar to that already discussed for street traffic. The computer must ensure that a certain cabin is guided from its starting point to its destination with a minimum of travelling time, taking into account traffic densities in the different parts of the

¹⁾ Japanese Society for the Promotion of Machine Industry, supported by the Japanese Government and the Tokyo University.

²⁾Cooperation of DEMAG Fördertechnik and Messerschmidt-Bölkow-Blohm GmbH, supported by the Ministry of Science and Technology, FRG.

network. In this connection, a new problem arises, that of optimal distribution of empty cars (cf. [15], pp. 553-564).

(ii) <u>Station and guideway level</u>: In the second level we have to distinguish the following problems: (1) Merging two traffic streams into one. Here some similarities to highway merging control can be observed. (2) Headway regulations for the string of moving vehicles. This is obviously a problem quite similar to that one we have already discussed for a string of ordinary cars moving on freeways and it seems that a practical solution of this problem is only possible for guideways and not for freeways.

The proposed methodology uses the linear regulator theory with quadratic cost function. However, even a small group of about ten vehicles requires tremendous numbers of feedback loops, which will result in unacceptably costly communication links between the central control computer and each individual car. On the other hand, if one considers only two vehicles and tries to control the distance between them by an uncoupled control system, then serious queue stability problems will occur if the leading car changes its speed [129]. Therefore, the so-called moving cell principle has been proposed: in a cable embedded in the guideway, an electrical signal of the form shown in Figure 14 (Level 2.2) is generated and picked up by sensors in the individual vehicles. This signal moves along the guideway at a speed prescribed by the computer. Now an on-board control system has the task of ensuring that the vehicle stays at the zero points of this curve and thus moves with the prescribed velocity [121]. This principle can be extended to the merging control problem [129].

There are further possibilities to achieve the same effect as the moving cell principle, all of them are based on the idea that each vehicle is assigned to an electronically generated point which it follows along the guideway [112, 113].

| CONCEPTS | METHODS | RESULTS |
|---|--|--|
| 1. NETWORK LEVEL SUPERVISING AND OPTIMAL CAR GUIDANCE AND EMPTY-CAR DISTRIBUTION | CRITERION : MINIMIZING TRAVELLING TIMES EQUABLE USAGE OF NETWORK CAPACITY METHOD: ADAPTIVE ROUTING | JAPAN, USA, FRG: SIMULATIONS (cf.[112,113,118,122] and [15] pp.553–564) |
| 2.1 STATION LEVEL MERGING CONTROL | CRITERION: MAX. CAPACITY METHOD: FEEDBACK CONTROL PROBLEM: COMMUNICATION LINKS | USA, JAPAN, FRG, FRANCE: TEST CEN TER S [112, 118, 126] |
| 22 GUIDEWAY LEVEL DISTANCE CONTROL | MOVING CELL PRINCIPLE : | |
| 3. VEHICLE LEVEL SPEED CONTROL COLLISION PREVENTION | EMERGENCY BRAKING SYSTEM | FIG.14 COMPUTER CON- TROL OF PRT SYSTEMS |

5.2.2 The Dual-Mode Concept

The second class of total-systems innovation in the dual-mode concept. Here a vehicle -- an automobile or bus -- would operate as an ordinary vehicle on city streets and then enter a station where it is switched onto a guideway and controlled in much the same way as described above. A potential economical advantage of the system is that the costly, low-density suburban collection and distribution functions could be performed by persons driving private cars or public busses to and from collection points just as they drive to and from freeways today. At the downtown end of the trip, the car would exit from the system and might then move along on the downtown streets or be dispatched automatically to some peripheral parking area. It seems that such a system could combine the advantages of a rail transit system with respect to high speed, capacity and safety, and also be pollution-free and quiet in operation with the flexibility and attractivity of the private motor car and the area transportation service of an ordinary or a demand bus (cf. [119-122]).

6. Conclusion

The aim of this paper was to discuss the contribution to be expected from a comprehensive application of modern automation and computer technology in the solution of the serious present and future urban traffic problems.

It has been shown that computerized urban traffic control systems already play an important role in the improvement of existing transportation systems, especially of urban railway systems and freeway and street transportation systems. Moreover, automation and computer control seem to provide the possibility of fundamental changes in existing urban transportation systems during the next ten years. This is indicated by several recently developed demonstration projects in different countries which are now used for experimental tests. Nevertheless, a number of problems and conflicting opinions (cf. e.g. [131]) still exist. Most of these problems are concerned with:

- the safety and reliability of totally automated systems,
- cost-benefit analysis,
- risk evaluation (e.g. deliberate or accidental destruction of the control center),
- public acceptance of automated modes of transportation,
- prediction of the expected effects of introducing new modes of transportation on the quality of urban living and city development in general.

At present one cannot be sure that the automated transportation modes now being developed will really bring the needed breakthough to better urban transportation. This is especially true if one considers the essential differences in the economic and social structures of different countries.

Nevertheless there is a strong motivation to proceed in the development of new automated demand-responsive urban transportation systems. Any fundamental change in transportation will need a certain period of time for experimentation: this was certainly true for highly rationalized railway systems, whose development began with the invention of the steam engine. It will doubtless be true for the development from the invention of the new "systems technology"--the large-scale integrated digital computers and the related automation techniques-to totally new urban transportation systems (cf. Figure 1). The complexity and interdisciplinarity of this subject needs international cooperation at a very early stage.

- 7. References
- I. GENERAL REFERENCE MATERIALS
- [1] Bahke, E. <u>Transportsysteme heute und morgen</u>. Buchreihe "Fördern und Heben." Mainz, Krauss Kopf-Verlag, 1973.
- [2] Bonladon, G. "Man, the City and the Automobile in the Future." <u>Futures</u> (1974), 59-65.
- [3] Cannon, R.H. "Transportation, Automation, and Societal Structure." Proc. IEEE, 61, 5 (1973), 518-525.
- [4] Dörrscheidt, F. "Anwendungen der Reglungs- und Steuerungstechnik im bodengebundenen Verkehr." VDI-Zeitschrift, 116, 3 (1974), 217-224.
- [5] French, A. "Highway Transportation and the Energy Crisis." U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, 1974.
- [6] First scientific conference, member countries of Council of Mutual Economic Assistance, Problems of Street Traffic Safety (five sessions): 1) Juristic and organizational questions of traffic safety;
 2) The driver and traffic safety; 3) Road conditions and traffic safety; 4) Vehicles and traffic safety;
 5) Traffic guidance and engineering means of control (in Russian). Alma-Ata, May 20-23, 1975.
- [7] Grabe, W. and H. Felz. <u>Neue Verkehrssysteme im Perso</u>nennahverkehr. <u>Wiesbaden</u>, Banverlag, 1974.
- [8] Orski, K. The Impact of the Automobile on the Environment. OECD Observer (1972).
- [9] "Programm Nahverkehrsforschung 1974-1978." Bonn, Bundesministerium für Forschung und Technologie, 1974.
- [10] Russel, R.W. and T.M. Frederiksen. "Automotive and Industrial Electronic Building Blocks." IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, SC-7 (1972) December, 446-454.
- [11] Sawaragi, Y. et al. "Environmental Pollution Control." Research abstracts, special research program, Ministry of Education. Japan, March 1974.

- [12] Strobel, H. "Computerized Urban Traffic Control and Guidance Systems." In <u>IIASA Project on Urban and</u> <u>Regional Systems: A Status Report</u>. Laxenburg, <u>Austria</u>, IIASA, 1975, 48-54.
- [13] Strobel, H., W. Becker and A. Winkler. "Neuartige Konzeptionen für den Einsatz von Prozessrechnern zur Steuerung und Regelung der Transportdurchführung." <u>Verkehrswissenschaftliche Tage der Hochschule für</u> Verkehrswesen Dresden, 10, July 1-6, 1974.
- [14] Strobel, H. "Anwendung der modernen Regelungstheorie im Verkehrswesen." <u>Messen-Steuern-Regeln</u>, <u>17</u> (1974) H11, 392-395.
- [15] "Traffic Control and Transportation Systems." Proceedings of the second IFAC/IFIP/IFORS World Symposium in Monte Carlo, September 16-21, 1974. Amsterdam, London, North-Holland Publishing Co., New York, American Elsevier Publishing Co., 1974.
- [16] "Transport Countermeasure." The Wheel Extended, A Toyota Quality Review, IV, 1 (1974). Tokyo, 14-32.
- [17] "Transport in Tokyo." The Wheel Extended, A Toyota Quality Review, IV, 1 (1974). Tokyo, 4-13.
- [18] United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. "Statistics of Road Traffic Accidents in Europe, 1973." New York United Nations, 1974.
- [19] United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. "Annual Bulletin of Transport Statistics for Europe, 1973." New York, United Nations, 1974.
- [20] Watkins, L.H. et al. Effects of Traffic and Roads on the Environment in Urban Areas. Paris, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), 1973.
- II. FREEWAY AND ROAD TRAFFIC CONTROL
- [21] Behrendt, et al. Verkehrsbeeinflussungssysteme in Frankreich. Forschungsarbeiten aus dem Strassenwesen, Heft 90. Bonn-Bad Godesberg, Kirschbaum Verlag, 1972.
- [22] Böttger, O. "Überlegungen zur Erhöhung der Transportkapazität einer Strasse durch Einführung von automatischer Spurführung und Abstandshaltung." Strasse und Autobahn Bd., 23, 1 (1972), 8-12.

- [23] Dodge, K.W. and R.A. Reiss. "Traffic Surveillance and Control." Sperry Technology, 1, 1 (1972), 42-51.
- [24] Everall, P.F. "Urban Freeway Surveillance and Control, the State-of-the-Art." Washington, Federal Highway Administration, June 1973.
- [25] Gazis, D.C. and R.S. Foote. "Surveillance and Control of Tunnel Traffic by an On-Line Digital Computer." Transportation Sciences, 3 (1969), 255-275.
- [25a] Groth, G. and O. Pilsack. "An Electronic System for Individual and Active Route Guidance on Motorways." In [15], 273-284.
 - [26] "Hanshin Expressway Traffic Control System Osaka." Hanshin Expressway Public Cooperations, March 1973.
 - [27] Henry, J.J. et al. "Study of Traffic Flow Control on the Paris A6-B6-C6 Freeway Complex." <u>Automatica</u>, 8 (1972), 609-620.
 - [28] Isaksen, L. "Freeway Traffic Surveillance and Control." Proc. IEEE Bd., 61, 5 (1973), 526-536.
- [28a] Isaksen, L. and H.J. Payne. "Suboptimal Control of Linear Systems by Augmentation with Application to Freeway Traffic Regulation." <u>IEEE Trans. Automatic</u> Control Bd., AC-18, 3 (1973), 210-219.
 - [29] Krell, et al. <u>Electronic Aids for Freeway Operations</u>. Paris, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), 1971.
 - [30] Komentani, E., T. Hasegawa and G. Inada. "On the Operation of the Traffic Control System on the Hanshin Expressway." In [15], 237-248.
 - [31] Nahi, N.E. "Freeway-Traffic Data Processing." Proc. IEEE Bd., 61, 5 (1973), 537-541.
 - [32] Le Pera, R. and R. Nenzi. "The Naples Tollway Computer System for Highway Surveillance and Control." In [15], 249-257.
 - [33] Pavel, G. "Möglichkeiten der Steuerung des Verkehrsablaufes auf Autobahnen." <u>Int. Verkehrswesen</u>, <u>24</u>, 4 (1972), 165-170.
 - [34] Payne, H.J. et al. "Design of a Traffic-Responsive Control System for a Los Angeles Freeway." <u>IEEE Transactions</u> on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, <u>SMC-3</u>, 3 (1973), May, 213-224.

- [34a] Rackoff, N.J. and T.H. Rockwell. "Use of Driver Display to Stabilize and Improve Traffic Flow." Project EES 328B, Final Report. Ohio Department of Highways and Driving Research Laboratory, Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering, The Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio, March 1973.
- [34b] "Route Guidance." Highway Research Record No. 265, Highway Research Board Publication, 1642 Washington, D.C., 1968.
- [35] Schneider, F. "Aufgaben und möglicher Nutzen einer automatischen Verkehrserfassung und Nachrichten übermittlung auf den Bundesautobahnen." <u>Wiss.</u> <u>Ber. AEG-Telefunken, 45, H. 112, (1972), 572-580.</u>
- [36] Szeto, N.W. and D.C. Gazis. "Application of Kalman Filtering to the Surveillance and Control of Traffic Systems." Transportation Sciences, 7 (1972), 419-439.
- [36a] Strobel, H. and W. Ullmann. "Die optimale Abstandsregelung im Kolonnenverkehr auf Autobahnen." Prag, Wissenschaftliche Konferenz der Fakultät für Elektrotechnik an der Technischen Universität, September 1975.
- [37] "Traffic Control of Metropolitan Expressway." Tokyo, Metropolitan Expressway Public Cooperation, 1974.
- [37a] Vasilev, A.P. and M.I. Frimstein. "Development of a System for Automatic Control of Highway Traffic." (In Russian). In [6], Session 5.
- III. URBAN STREET NETWORK TRAFFIC CONTROL
- [38] Bennewitz, W. "Einsatz des ersten Verkehrsrechners der DDR in Leipzig." <u>Technische Informationen</u>, <u>GRW 12</u> (1974), special issue, 60-63.
- [39] Butrimenko, A. and H. Strobel. "On an Algorithm for the Adaptive Automatic Control of the Main Vehicular Traffic Streams in an Urban Area." IIASA Working Paper, WO-74-14. Laxenburg, Austria, IIASA, June 1974.
- [40] Chorovitsch, B.G. and M.P. Petscherski. "The Remote Control System for Urban Traffic in Moscow," (system "START"). (In Russian). In [6], Session 5.
- [41] Cox, L.T. and S.F. Rashba. "Mini-Computers in Urban Society--Where to Use Them and How to Choose Them." <u>Comput. and Urban Soc.</u>, <u>1</u> (1975), 107-120. (Pergamon Press.)

- [42] Gazis, D.C. "Traffic Control: From Hand Signals to Computers." Proc. of the IEEE, 59, 7 (1971), 1090-1099.
- [43] Hasegawa, T. "Traffic Control System in Osaka." First USA-Japan Computer Conference co-sponsored by AFIPS and IPSJ in Tokyo, October 3-5, 1972.
- [44] Hasegawa, T. "Graceful Degradation in Road Traffic Control System." Second USA-Japan Computer Conference, Tokyo, August 1975.
- [45] Heymann, G. "Report from Western Germany, Improved Traffic Flow by Means of Automation Taffic Engineering and Control." (1972), May, 29-32.
- [46] Hillier, J.V. et al. <u>Area Traffic Control Systems</u>. Paris, Organization for <u>Economic Cooperation and Development</u> (OECD), 1972.
- [47] Hoddinott, E.V. "Progress Report on New York City's Traffic Control System." <u>Traffic Engineering and</u> Control, 14 (1972) September, 221-223.
- [48] Holroyd, J. and D.I. Robertson. "Strategies for Area Traffic Control Systems: Present and Future." Transport and Road Research Laboratory, Crowthorne, Berkshire, Report LR 569, 1973.
- [49] Huddart, K.W. et al. "London Traffic Signals--Their Practical Management and the Use of Computers and Detectors." In [15], 69-81.
- [50] Iida, Y. "Road Network Operation System Considering Environmental Conditions." In [11].
- [51] Inose, H. et al. "A Multi Computer Urban Traffic Control and Surveillance System in Tokyo." In [15], 95-106.
- [52] Inose, H. and T. Hamada. "Road Traffic Control." (Translated from Japanese.) Division of Engineering and Applied Science, California Institute of Technology, July 1974.
- [53] Kessmann and Ganslaw. "Control Strategies of the Traffic Adaptive Network Signal Timing Program (TANSTP)." Notes on paper presented at Annual FCP Research Progress Review Meeting. Annapolis, Maryland, August 1973.
- [54] Koshi, M. and I. Okura. "Motor Vehicle Emissions Related to the Vehicle Operating Conditions." In [11].

- [55] Lieberman, E. "UTCS Third Generation Control Policies--Conceptional Outline and Preliminary Results." Notes on paper presented at Annual FCP Research Progress Review Meeting. Annapolis, Maryland, August 1973.
- [56] May, A.D. "Some Fixed-Time Signal Computer Programs." In [15], 209-234.
- [57] MITI. "Comprehensive Automobile Control Systems Technology." National Research and Development Program, Japanese Ministry of International Trade and Industry.
- [58] MITI. "Comprehensive Automobile Control Systems." Japanese Ministry of International Trade and Industry. Preliminary report, Tokyo, May 1975.
- [59] Moriwaki, Y. et al. "Analysis of Traffic Flow by Means of Hybrid Simulation." AICA Symposium on Simulation of Complex Systems. Tokyo, September 3-7, 1971.
- [60] Nakahara, et al. "Multi-Criterion Area Traffic Control System with Feedback Features." First International Symposium on Traffic Control. Versailles, June 1970.
- [61] Nguyen, S. "An Algorithm for the Traffic Assignment Problem." <u>Transportation Science</u>, (1974), 203-216.
- [62] Okutani, I. "Time Sharing Traffic Control System in a Network." In [11].
- [63] Pignataro, et al. "Traffic Control in Oversaturated Street Networks--Final Report for NCHRP Project 3-18 (2)." Polytechnic Institute of Brooklyn, January 1973.
- [64] Rach, L. et al. "Improved Operation of Urban Transportation Systems, Vol. 1: Traffic Signal Control Strategies: a State of the Art." Study conducted by the Canada Ministry of Transport, Ontario, Ministry of Transportation and Communication and Metropolitan Toronto, March 1974.
- [65] Raus, J. and P.J. Tarnoff. "Federal Research in Urban Traffic Control." <u>Transportation Engineering Journal</u>, ASCE, <u>98</u> (1973) November, <u>909-913</u>.
- [66] Raus, J. and P.J. Tarnoff. "Computer Control of Traffic in an Urban Network." <u>Electronics and Aerospace</u> Systems Conv. New York (1972), 136-139.
- [67] Ross, D.W. "Improved Control Logic for Use with Computer Controlled Traffic." NCHRP Project 3-18 (Final Report). Stanford Research Institute, December 1973.

- [68] Sasaki, T. and H. Inoye. "Approach to Emergency Traffic Control." In [11].
- [70] Stockfisch, C.R. "Selecting Digital Computer Signal Systems." U.S. Department of Transportation, Report to FHWA-RD-72-20, 1972.
- [71] Strobel, H. "On Problems of Computer Control of Urban Traffic in Large Cities of the GDR." (In Russian.) In [6], Session 5.
- [72] Strobel, H. W. Ullmann and E. Kästner. "Stand und Entwicklungstendenzen der Steuerung des Strassenverkehrs mit Hilfe von Prozessrechnern." Internationale Transport-Analen. Berlin, Transpress, 1971, 233-264.
- [73] Strobel, H. and W. Ullmann. "Prozessrechnereinsatz im Strassenverkehr." <u>Technische Informationen</u>, <u>GRW 11</u>, H. 3 (1973), 135-141.
- [74] Strobel, H. and E. Lohse. "Über die Anwendung des diskreten Maximumprinzips zur Ermittlung einer optimalen Regelungsstrategie für ein System übersättigter Strassenkreuzungen." XVIII, Internationales Wissenschaftliches Kolloquium der TH Ilmenau, 1973, Vortragsreihe B 1, 111-116.
- [74a] Lohse, E. "Beitrag zur optimalen Regelung des Strassenverkehrs." Dissertation. Dresden, Hochschule für Verkehrswesen, 1975.
- [75] Toyota. "Research and Development of a Multifunctional Automobile Communication System." Toyota Motor Sales Co., Advanced Group for Transportation, October 1973.
- [76] Toyota. "For a Better Tomorrow." Toyota MAC System, Toyota Motor Sales Co. Tokyo, March 1974.
- IV. URBAN RAILWAY TRAFFIC CONTROL
- [77] Aubert, M. and A. Lemaire. "Régulation des circulations en gare de Paris Nord." In [5], 467-477.

L

- [78] Brownson, J.W. "Strategic Control of the San Francisco Bay Area Rapid Transit System." <u>IEEE Transaction</u> of Industry and General Applications, <u>IGA-7</u>, 5 (1971), 570.575.
- [79] Fourth International Symposium on <u>Railroad Cybernetics</u> of AAR/UIC/AICCF. Washington, D.C., April 21-26, 1974.
- [80] Gottschalk, W. "Steuerung des Eisenbahnbetriebes durch Prozessrechner." <u>Int. Verkehrswesen</u>, <u>25</u>, H. 3 (1973), 103-106.
- [81] JNR. "New Mars System." Japanese National Railway, 1972.
- [82] JNR. "TARS (Telephone Automatic Reservation System)." (In Japanese.) Japanese National Railroad, 1975.
- [83] Kawamura, T. et al. "Train Traffic Simulator for New Tokaido Line, COMTRAC System." <u>Hitachi Review</u>, 20, 8 (1971), 335-341.
- [84] Köhler, E.J. "Continuous Automatic Train Control (ATC-ATO) System for Munich S-Bahn (Rapid Transit Suburban Railway)." Coll. Digest on the Automation of Railway Systems in the 70's, IEE. London, 1973.
- [85] Kubo, S. and S. Kamada. "Automatische Zugfahrtdurchführung mit Kleincomputer." Schienen der Welt (1974) April, 303-308.
- [87] Ohno, Y. "Le Système COMTRAC du Shinkansen Automatisme." TOME XVIII, 2 (1973), 48-55.
- [88] Ozeki, M. et al. "Railway Traffic Control System." <u>Information Processing</u>, 74 North Holland Publishing Company (1974), 802-806.
- [89] Rimpka, J. "Automatische Zugsteuerung und zentralisierte Betriebsführung." ETZ-B 24, H. 3 (1972), 53-56.
- [90] Savage, M.H. and R.P. Harrison. "Real Time Systems for Train Scheduling." In [15], 479-490.
- [91] Sugihawa, A. et al. "Computer Aided Traffic Control System COMTRAC for Hakata Shinkansen." <u>Hitachi</u> Review, 24, 4 (1975), 181-188.

- [92] Strobel, H., M. Kosemund and P. Horn. "On the Determination and Practice-Referred Trial of Control Strategies for Computer-Aided Optimized Train Operations." In [79].
- [93] Strobel, H. et al. "A Contribution to Optimum Computer-Aided Control of Train Operation." In [15], 377-387.
- [94] Takaoka, T. "Recent Tendency in Automatic Train Operation Equipment." Hitachi Review, 22, 5 (1973), 218-224.
- [95] Vollenwyder, K. "Automatisierung von Vorort- und Untergrundbahnen durch Bordrechner." <u>Elektrische</u> Bahnen, 43, H. 6 (1972), 133-139.
- [96] "Washington Railway Automates." <u>Railway Systems Control</u>, 3, 8 (1972), 18-27.
- [97] Watanabe, J. and M. Unabe. "Computerized Automatic Train Operation Systems." <u>Toshiba Review</u>, International Edition (1973) February, 7-11.
- [98] Watanabe, J. "Computerized Automatic Traffic Control Equipment Delivered to Osaka Subway." <u>Toshiba</u> Review, International Edition (1971) November, 7-12.
- V. BUS AND TRAM MONITORING AND CONTROL
- [99] Finnamore, A.J. and P.H. Bly. "Bus Control Systems: Some Evidence on Their Effectiveness." In [5], 147-161.
- [100] Gleason, J.M. "A Simulation Model for Evaluating Bus Routes and Schedules in Small Cities." Winter Simulation Conference, 1 (1974), 329-336. Washington, D.C.
- [101] Hanzawa, Y. and T. Matzudo. "Passenger Behavior and System Design for Urban Bus Transportation." In [5], 177-187.
- [102] Lukes, M. and R. Shea. "Monitor CTA." Chicago Transit Authority, Final Report, 1973.
- [103] Mertens, F.H. "A Control System Giving Priority to Trams." Traffic Engineering and Control (1973) March, 514-518.
- [104] Nocolaev, M.I. and G.I. Kalney. "Automatic Traffic Control System Applied to Urban Electric Transport." In [15], 189-196.

- [105] Wheat, M.H. and N.V. Cohen. "Bus Monitoring and Control Experiment and the Assessment of its Effects on Bus Operation." In [15], 133-145.
- VI. NEW TRANSPORTATION SYSTEMS
- VI.a. TECHNOLOGICAL INNOVATIONS: THE DEMAND BUS
- [106] Breur, M.W.K.A. et al. "The Bustaxi, a Study of Different Algorithms for Alloting Passengers to Vehicles." In [15], 109-119.
- [107] "CARS (Computer Aided Routing Systems) A Prototype Diala-Bus System." MIT, Urban Systems Laboratory. Cambridge, Massachusetts, 1969.
- - [108] Tanizawa, T. et al. "Demand Bus Implementation in Nose Area." Hankyu Bus Co., Preliminary Report. Osaka, September 1972.
 - [109] Rebibo, K.K. "A Computer Controlled Dial-a-Ride System." In [15], 121-132.
 - [110] Slevin, R. "The First British Dial-a-Ride Symposium." September 9-12, 1974, Center for Transport Studies. Cranfield, 1974.
 - [111] Schweizer, G. "Bedarfsgesteuerte Strassennahverkehrssysteme." Dornier Post, H. 2 (1974), 68-71.
 - VI.b TOTAL SYSTEMS INNOVATIONS: GUIDEWAY AND DUAL-MODE SYSTEMS
 - [112] "A New Urban Traffic System: CVS (Computer-Controlled Vehicle System)." Japan Society for the Promotion of Machine Industry, May 1972.
 - [113] "A New Intra-Urban Transit System: CVS (Computer-Controlled Vehicle System)." Japan Society for the Promotion of Machine Industry, 1975.
 - [114] Aston, W.W. et al. "Personal Rapid Transit, Computerized, in Morgantown, West Viriginia." Computers and Automation (1972) June, 11-17.

- [115] " 'Aramis,' A New Generation of Urban Transportation." Engins Matra, Avenue Luis. Brequet, Velizy, France, 1973.
- [116] Becker, K. "Cabinentaxi: Ein neuer Weg für einen besseren Verkehr in unseren Städten." <u>Nahverkehrspraxis Bd</u>., 20, 7 (1973), 276-279.
- [117] Becker, K. and H.O. Hannover. "Cabinentaxi: Ein neuer Weg für den Stadtverkehr, Der Städtetag." No. 8 (1974), 2-7.
- [118] Becker, K. "Über den Einfluss von Fahrgeschwindigkeit und Streckennetz auf Verkehrsmenge und Kostenstruktur einer neuartigen Kabinenbahn." Wetter (Ruhr), DEMAG Fördertechnik, 1975.
- [119] Dietrich, E. et al. "Dual Mode Bus Systeme." Studie im Auftrage des Bundesministers für Forschung und Technologie. Friedrichshafen, München, Köln im Feb., 1975.
- [120] Donlon, R.H. and L. Saunders. "Comparison of Energy and Pollution Characteristics for Three Dual Mode Bus Propulsion Systems and the Automobile." In [122].
- [121] Fenton, R.E. et al. "Synchronous Longitudinal Control for Automated Ground Transport--Theory and Experiment." In [15], 285-296.
- [122] "First International Conference on Dual-Mode Transportation." (Sponsored by the Transportation Research Board.) Washington, D.C., May 29-31, 1974.
- [123] Godfrey, M.B. "On the Operation of Automated Ground Transportation Systems, Part I: Urban Problems and Perspectives." <u>IEEE Transactions on Vehicular</u> Technology, VT-22, 1 (1973) February, 1-6.
- [124] Grover, H.W. and R.C. Baker. " 'Minitram' in Britain: Automatic Urban Transportation." In [15], 529-540.
- [125] Gunnarson. "Die Einführung neuer Transportsysteme unter politischen, städtebaulichen und technischen Gerichtspunkten." <u>Nahverkehrspraxis</u>, 8 (1974), 269-271.
- [126] Hamada, H. "New KRT (Kobe Rapid Transit) Transportation System for Okinawa Marine Expo." (In Japanese.) Denshin Gijuton (Electronic Technology), <u>16</u>, 10 (1975), 1-8.

- [127] Hesse, R. "German Experiences in the Planning and Development of Automatic Cabintaxi Systems." Intersociety Conference on Transportation. Washington, D.C., May 1932.
- [128] "High Capacity Personal Rapid Transit Systems Developments." U.S. Department of Transportation, New Systems Division, Office of Research and Development, UMTA, November 1973.
- [129] Hinman, E.J. "Command on Control Studies for Personal Rapid Transit." Program Status, 1973, The Johns Hopkins University, Applied Physics Laboratory. Silver Spring, Maryland, December 1973.
- [130] Hitchcock, A.J.M. and H.B. Sedgfield. "Guided Buses on Segregated Ways." Proc. Inst. Mech. Engrs., 184 (1969/70), 54-60.
- [131] Leutzback, W. et al. "Auf neuen Bahnen durch die Stadt-Modelle zur Verkehrsqualität-Kontroversen." <u>Bild</u> <u>der Wissenschaft</u>, 1974, 80-91.
- [132] MacKinnon, D. "United States Department of Transportation: Personal Rapid Transit System Developments." In [15], 578-586.
- [133] Müller, S. and F. Friedrich. "Die H-Bahn-Lösung für ein öffentliches Verkehrsmittel im Stadtbereich." Verkehr und Technik, H. 1 (1974), 8-12.
- [134] "Nahverkehrssystem Cabinentaxi-System-Beschreibung." DEMAG + MBB, October 1974.
- [135] "Nutzen-Kosten-Analyse für das Cabinentaxi." Bundesministerium für Forschung und Technologie. Bonn-Bad Godesberg, May 1975.
- [136] Penoyre, S. "The Road Research Laboratory's Work on Dual-Mode Road Vehicles." Traffic Engineering and Control, (1971) September, 189-191.
- [137] "Transurban das unkonventionelle, flexible Nahverkehrssystem der Krauss-Maffei A.G." München, Krauss-Maffei A.G., Geschäftsbereich Transportsysteme.

APPENDIX A

Optimal Traffic Control in the Presence of Congestion

Consider an over-saturated network; that is, at one or more intersections traffic demand exceeds capacity (Figure 8a). As state variables x_i , define the number of cars waiting at the different intersections; and as control variables u_i , the length of the green times or the number of cars leaving the link during the green light. Now one can formulate the following optimal control problem. The state vector

$$\underline{\mathbf{x}}^{\mathrm{T}}(\mathbf{k}) = (\mathbf{x}_{1}(\mathbf{k}) \dots \mathbf{x}_{n}(\mathbf{k}))$$
(1)

of the system is to be changed from a given initial state $\underline{x}(0)$ characterizing over-saturation (congestion) to a final state $\underline{x}(N)$ corresponding to under-saturation (normal traffic conditions) in minimum time or at least with a minimum number N of green-yellow-red cycles. Now the corresponding optimal control vector can be calculated from the measured state variables $x_i(k)$ considering the constraints

 $M_{i} \geq u_{i}(k) \geq U_{i}$ (2)

of the control variables. The M_i represents the minimal and the U_i the maximal length of green times that are acceptable from a psychological point of view. If one assumes that the travelling time between two intersections is small compared to the waiting time, then it is possible to set up a system of state equations of the form

$$\underline{x}(k + 1) = \underline{x}(k) + (B) \underline{u}(k) + q(k) , \qquad (3)$$

- 62 -

l





- FIG. 8: EXAMPLE OF JAM-MODE CRITERION CONTROL OF A CONGESTED NETWORK
- 8a: NETWORK STUDIED
- 8b: RESULTS OBTAINED

describing the relation between the number of waiting cars at the end of time intervals k + 1 and k, the control variables $u_i(k)$ and the number of cars $q_{ij}(k)$ arriving at the controlled area during time interval k. For the example shown in Figure 8a, the matrix (B) is of the form

Elements r_i and s_i describe the percentage of cars turning right or left $\{r_i\}$ and going straight ahead $\{s_i\}$. According to Pontryagin's maximum principle, the optimal control strategy $u^*(k)$ is that which maximizes the Hamiltonian

$$H(\underline{u},\underline{p}) = \sum_{i=0}^{n} p_{i} x_{i} (k+1) .$$
 (5)

As shown in [74], one can in this way develop the following relations for the optimal control variables characterizing a bang-bang control system:

$$u_3^*(k) = \max(\min(U_3, x_3), M_3)$$

٩

,

$$u_{2}^{*}(k) = \max(\min(\min(U_{2}, x_{2})), \frac{u_{3}^{*} - r_{13}q_{13}}{s_{2}}), M_{2})$$

I *

$$u_6^*(k) = \max(\min(U_6, x_6), M_6)$$

$$u_{5}^{*}(k) = \max(\min(\min(U_{5}, x_{5}))), \frac{u_{6}^{*} - r_{14}q_{14}}{s_{5}}), M_{5}$$

$$u_{9}^{*}(k) = \max(\min(U_{9}, x_{9}), M_{9})$$
 (6)

$$u_{10}^{*}(k) = \max(\min(U_{10}, x_{10}), M_{10})$$

$$u_{1}^{*}(k) = \max(\min(\min(U_{1}, x_{1}))), \frac{s_{8}u_{2}^{*} - r_{8}u_{9}^{*}}{s_{1} + s_{8} - 1}), M_{1}$$

1

*

*

•

$$u_8^*(k) = \max(\min(\min(U_8, x_8))), \frac{s_1u_9^* - r_1u_2^*}{s_1^* + s_8^* - 1}), M_8)$$

$$u_{4}^{*}(k) = \max(\min(\min(U_{4}, x_{4}))), \frac{s_{7}u_{5}^{*} - r_{7}u_{10}^{*}}{s_{4} + s_{7} - 1}), M_{4}$$

$$u_7^*(k) = \max(\min(\min(U_7, x_7)), \frac{s_4u_{10}^* - r_4u_5^*}{s_4 + s_7 - 1}), M_7)$$

A small example demonstrates the efficiency of the method: We assume an initial state which is characterized by the vector $\underline{x}^{T}(0) = (35, 25, 30, 25, 30, 40, 30, 30, 30)$, i.e. 25-40 cars are waiting at the different intersections. Let the number of cars arriving per time interval at the controlled district be constant. Let parameters r_{i} and s_{i} , i.e. the percentage of cars going straight ahead and turning right or left, respectively, also be constant.

Using the control strategy obtained in (6), one gets curve 1 in Figure 8b for the sum

$$Q = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \Delta x_{i} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_{i} - x_{is})$$
(7)

of the differences $x_i - x_{is}$ between the numbers of waiting cars x_i and their nominal numbers x_{is} characterizing undersaturation which shall be reached by the control strategy in a minimum of time.

We observe a decrease of Q according to equation (7) and then an unexpected maximum (cf. Figure 8b, curve 1). This is caused by the fact that the desired state of undersaturation is not reached at all intersections at the same moment of time (cf. Figure 8b, diagrams for x_3 , x_4 and x_1 for $t = t_1$). Therefore, a certain kind of dynamic decomposition is used; i.e. if an intersection has reached the state of under-saturation it is excluded from the network and controlled according to another criterion. Curve 2 illustrates the success of this technique. Curve 3 represents a result one can obtain by a certain rule-of-thumb strategy often recommended by traffic engineers. The advantages of the optimal strategy are obvious.

So far it has not been possible to apply a strategy of the type described. This field is thus still open for fundamental research work (for more details, cf. [74, 74a]).

Acknowledgements

The author would like to express his thanks to Dr. Harry Swain, leader of the Urban Project, for supporting the work leading to this report. Moreover, the author is grateful for the kind assistance he received from different National IIASA Committees, especially from the Japanese and the USA Committee.